Filed 05-30-2023

Page 1 of 16

FILED 05-30-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

## COURT OF APPEALS

## DISTRICT III

#### Case No. 2022AP002122

## STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KIMBERLY D. ROWE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Lincoln County Circuit Court, the Honorable Robert R. Russell Presiding

## BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CARLOS BAILEY Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1113630

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 266-8259 baileyc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

Did the State present sufficient evidence at trial to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kimberly Rowe possessed with the intent to unlawfully sell "intoxicating liquor?"

The jury found Rowe guilty of possession with intent to sell intoxicating liquor without a valid liquor license.

This Court should reverse.

## POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Neither oral argument nor publication is requested as the briefing should adequately set forth the arguments, and the issue involves the application of settled law to the facts of this case.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND RELEVANT FACTS

On October 14, 2020, according to the Complaint, Deputy Lange of the Lincoln County Sheriff's Office responded to K&R Raceway Pub after receiving a report that the pub was serving minors. (2:1). According to the Complaint, Deputy Lange spoke with several people in the pub who claimed that the bartender had served them alcohol without verifying their ages. (2:1). The bartender, later identified as

Page 6 of 16

Kimberly Rowe's significant other, "fled the bar on the arrival of law enforcement." (2:1; 42:75; App. 12). Deputy Lange identified the pub's proprietor, Kimberly Rowe, and directed her to provide him with the pub's liquor license, as well as her operator's (bartender's) license. (2:1; 42:77; App. 14). Rowe provided only an expired operator's license. (2:1; 42:78; App.15).

On November 4, 2020, the State charged Rowe with selling, or possessing with the intent to sell, intoxicating liquor without a license, a misdemeanor violation of Wis. Stat. § 125.66(1). (2:1). Proceedings in the case continued, and on January 19, 2022, the case was tried to a jury in the Lincoln County Circuit Court. (42; App. 6-77).

At trial, the State presented testimony from two witnesses, the town clerk, and Deputy Lange. (42:60; 70). The town clerk testified concerning the county's liquor licensing records, which she maintained as part of her regular duties. (42:60). The clerk testified that Rowe did not have the required license for the sale or service of alcohol during the month in question. (42:69).

Deputy Lange testified about his interaction with Rowe at K&R Raceway Pub, and his observations at the pub during his investigation in October 2020. (42:70-84; App. 7-28). Lange testified that when he arrived, the pub appeared to be open for business: cars were in the parking lot and the lights were on; people were inside "consuming intoxicants," and "consuming

Filed 05-30-2023

beverages," that he later clarified he believed to be beer; there was a cash register behind the counter. (42:73, 75-77; 83-84; App. 10, 12-14, 20-21).

Lang testified that during his interaction with Rowe he saw liquor bottles on a shelf behind her. (42:74, 77; App. 11, 14). Lang testified that the labels on the bottles were facing the patrons and were visible to him from where he was standing, such that he could read the labels, but offered no testimony as to what the labels said. (42:77; App. 14). When asked on direct whether, in his experience, any of them were liquor bottles, he responded "yes." (42:77; App. 14).

The State rested after Lange's testimony, and the defense moved for a directed verdict outside the presence of the jury. (42:85; App. 22) The defense asserted a number of grounds as to why no reasonable jury could convict given the evidence that the State presented (or perhaps, more accurately, given the evidence the State *did not* present):

- no evidence of any sale of liquor, either by Rowe or anyone else;
- no evidence of the consumption of intoxicating liquor (only beer, which does not constitute "intoxicating liquor" by statute);
- no evidence that Rowe possessed intoxicating liquor with the intent to sell;

- no evidence that intoxicating liquor was present in the pub, as Deputy Lange provided no details as to the type, amount, or alcoholic content;
- no testimony from any of the witnesses at the pub which the State could have called to testify about the sale of liquor;

(42:86, 89; App. 23, 26).

The State responded that an intent to make a sale could be gleaned from the pub being open to the public, and the fact that people were drinking at a pub where Rowe was observed behind the counter (i.e. tending bar). (42:88; App. 25). The State argued that Lange identified liquor bottles as liquor bottles, and the presence of a cash register. (42:88; App. 25). Lastly, the posting of the expired license (which had been admitted as an exhibit upon the State's offer) indicated that the establishment was a bar. (42:79, 88; App. 16, 25).

The court denied the motion for a directed verdict, stating that testimony from Lange as to the appearance of the establishment, including: neon signage; liquor bottles observed inside the pub; a number of people present, some of which appeared to be drinking beer; the presence of a cash register; and the testimony concerning the expired license; all tended to support that a reasonable jury could find for the State. (42:91; App. 28). After the denial of the directed verdict and following a court colloquy, Rowe elected to testify as the defense's sole witness. (42:92-95; App. 29). Rowe denied selling any intoxicating liquor, and described the night in question as a "private get together," noting that she lived upstairs in the same building. (42:96; App. 30).

On cross-examination, Rowe acknowledged that beer was available in a cooler for her guests. (42:99; App. 33). Rowe also acknowledged that there "were a few alcohol bottles behind the bar" but denied ever having served anyone, explaining that her significant other had put the bottles there. (42:101; App. 35).

Over the defense's objection, the State second exhibit introduced а during Rowe's cross-examination: an application for a liquor license for K&R's Raceway pub, submitted by Rowe several days after the alleged offense. (42:103-106, 146-47; App. 71-72).

After the defense rested, the State sought leave to amend the complaint to conform to the evidence presented. (42:111; App. 38). Since no evidence of an actual sale was presented, the State asked "[t]hat the language of the charge be the defendant possessed with intent to sell intoxicating liquor rather than the language that was originally charged."<sup>1</sup> (42:111-12;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The original language in the Complaint averred that Rowe "did sell, or possess with intent to sell, intoxicating liquor without holding the appropriate license or permit, contrary to sec. 125.66(1) Wis. Stats." (2).

App. 38-39). The State also asked for a correction of the name of the township where the pub was located (Bradley instead of Tomahawk). (42:112; App. 39). The defense did not object to either amendment, or to the circuit court's corresponding updates to the jury instructions. (42:112-14, 147-48; App. 39-41, 72-78).

After closing argument from the parties, the court gave final instructions to the jury for deliberation. (42:144; App. 69). The jury returned a guilty verdict, which the court accepted, and entered judgment of conviction in conformity therewith. (42:148-150; App. 73-75). The court then proceeded directly to sentencing. (42:152-53; App. 77).

The State recommended a straight sentence that included a \$500 fine, exclusive of court costs. (42:153). The defense asked the court for a deferred entry of judgment (or, alternatively, that the court impose only costs) arguing that the offense was mitigated by the fact that no actual sale of the liquor had occurred. (42:153-54). Rowe gave an allocution expressing her remorse, and explaining the difficulties she encountered with the licensing requirements when she relocated to Lincoln County. (42:154).

The court denied the defense's request for a deferred judgment, noting that the court already entered judgment upon the verdict. (42:155). The court adopted the State's recommendation and imposed a \$500 fine (plus costs, assessments, and surcharges) to be paid within 60 days unless a payment arrangement was made. (42:155). The court confirmed with the

parties that the conviction did not carry a mandatory court-imposed licensing restriction. (42:155). Lastly, the court advised Rowe to talk with counsel about her appellate rights (which Rowe promptly exercised by filing notice of her intent to pursue postconviction relief). (42:156; 31). This appeal follows.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove that Rowe possessed "intoxicating liquor."

A. Legal standard and standard of review.

"In order to obtain a conviction, the state must prove every essential element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Ivy*, 119 Wis. 2d 591, 606-607, 350 N.W.2d 622 (1984), A conviction obtained without sufficient evidence is a violation of the defendant's right to due process of law. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Wis. Const. Art. I, § 1; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 365 (1970).

"The question of whether the evidence was sufficient to sustain a verdict of guilt in a criminal prosecution is a question of law," which this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Smith*, 2012 WI 91, ¶24, 342 Wis. 2d 710, 817 N.W.2d 410. In doing so, this Court will uphold the verdict unless the evidence "is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752 (1990)). Stated another way, this Court is to "decide whether 'any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence adduced at trial." *Id.*, ¶44 (quoting *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 506). Should this Court determine that the evidence produced at trial is insufficient, it must order a judgment of acquittal. *Ivy*, 119 Wis. 2d at 608-610.

> B. The evidence at trial was insufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Rowe possessed with intent to unlawfully sell "intoxicating liquor."

When the definition of "intoxicating liquor" specifies a certain percentage of alcoholic content, Wisconsin appellate courts have required the State to present competent evidence of alcoholic content in prosecutions of its unlawful possession and sale. *Gebaj* v. State, 184 Wis. 289, 199 N.W. 54 (1924); Hoch v. State, 199 Wis. 63, 225 N.W. 191 (1929)

In Hoch v. State, 199 Wis. 63, a conviction for the illegal possession and sale of intoxicating liquor was upheld on a sufficiency challenge. *Id.* at 63. Just as in Rowe's case, a sheriff's deputy testified that the alcoholic beverage at issue qualified as intoxicating liquor without providing any details or specificity concerning the alcoholic content. *Id.* The court determined that a basis for the conviction could not be sustained on this testimony alone, and found it necessary to consider additional evidence in the

record. *Id.* Unlike in this case, the record included testimony from a druggist that "the percentage of alcohol was about 45 by volume. This was abundant proof that the liquor seized was intoxicating." *Id.* 

In Gebaj v. State, 184 Wis. 289, the Wisconsin Supreme Court considered the sufficiency of the evidence in a prosecution for the sale of intoxicating liquor. The alcohol was seized (unlike the liquor bottles in Rowe's case) and was subject to chemical analysis prior to trial. *Id.* at 289. When the State offered the bottles into evidence at trial, each of the bottles had been tested and labeled with the results of the analysis: "Health Department. Alcohol 5.40% by weight. E. Huebner Analysis, Chemical Laboratory Division." *Id.* The *Gebaj* court affirmed the verdict. *Id.* 

Here, there was no evidence, lay or expert, of the alcoholic content of the liquor bottles Deputy Lange saw from across the bar. And unlike in *Hoch* (where the Wisconsin Supreme Court found that the deputy's testimony was not sufficient to establish that the liquor was intoxicating) and *Gebaj*, there was no testimony that the liquor in the bottles was ever sampled, seized, or subjected to any form of analysis to establish its contents.

Yet, during closing argument, the State nevertheless told the jury that it could rely inherently on the deputy's unsupported conclusion:

> [THE STATE] Kimberly Rowe had bottles of liquor behind her. From [Deputy Lange's] experience, he's seen a bottle of liquor before.

When you go back in the jury room, you will also be relying on your own experience. He was able to recognize those were, in fact, bottles of liquor...".

(42:128; App. 55).

While jurors may apply matters of common knowledge or their own observation and experience in the affairs of life to circumstantial evidence, *De Keuster v. Green Bay & W.R. Co.*, 264 Wis. 476, 479, 59 N.W.2d 452 (1953), there are indeed matters that involve special knowledge, skill, or experience that is outside the realm of ordinary experience or knowledge of the jurors. *State v. Johnson*, 54 Wis. 2d 561, 196 N.W.2d 717 (1971).

Rowe contends that whether these bottles contained ardent, spiritous, distilled or vinous liquor with a minimum of 0.5 percent alcohol by volume, is not within the realm of ordinary experience. Even if it were, there is simply no testimony from Deputy Lange as to alcoholic content, and there are no facts in evidence upon which the jurors could infer such a finding. Thus any inference would be based on mere suspicion or conjecture, and insufficient to sustain a conviction. *See State ex rel. Kanieski v. Gagnon*, 54 Wis. 2d 108, 117, 194 N.W.2d 808 (1972).

*Hoch* and *Gebaj* illustrate the importance of seizing evidence, testing it, and ensuring a proper chain of custody for admission at trial, none of which appears to have been done in this prosecution. There is no reason why the State should not have had to obtain a chemical analysis to establish the alcoholic content of the beverages at issue in order to prove that Rowe was in possession of "intoxicating liquor." Even if this Court determines that such analysis is not the only way to establish proof of alcoholic content, the fact remains that no other proof was offered in this case upon which the jury could make (or infer) such a finding. Without *some* evidence of alcoholic content, this conviction cannot stand.

#### CONCLUSION

The State failed to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Rowe possessed intoxicating liquor with the intent to sell it unlawfully. Accordingly, Rowe respectfully requests that this Court reverse the judgment of conviction and remand to the circuit court with instructions to enter a judgment of acquittal.