Filed 07-14-2023

Page 1 of 16

FILED 07-14-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP002122-CR Court Case No.: 2020CM000190

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

KIMBERLY D. ROWE

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Lincoln County Circuit Court, Honorable Robert R. Russell Presiding

# RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

**ANDREW POLZIN** 

Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1094275

Lincoln County District Attorney's Office 1110 E. Main Street, Suite 103 Merrill, WI 54452 (715). 536-0339 andrew.polzin@da.wi.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In addition to the facts set forth in the Brief of Defendant-Appellant:

Three jurors of the 12 person jury panel selected for the January 19, 2022 trial had experience as bartenders. (R 42: 35-37, 46; R 45: 1). One juror stated they were born and raised in a bar, as their parents had owned a bar. (R 42: 39, 46; R 45: 2). These jurors were given an instruction on the definition of "intoxicating liquor." (R. 42: 124)

At the trial Deputy Logan Lange testified to these jurors that the K and R Raceway Pub was labeled with a sign indicating "K and R Raceway Pub." (R. 42: 72). Deputy Lange opined the pub was open, in part, due to neon lighting in the windows. (R. 42: 72). Deputy Lange saw Kimberly Rowe behind the establishment's countertop with a cash register. (R. 42: 74,77). Rowe referred to the establishment's countertop in her testimony as

"the bar." (R. 42: 101). Deputy Lange referred to bottles behind the bar as "liquor" and Rowe referred to the bottles as "alcohol." (R. 42: 77, 101).

Rowe testified that she was at the K and R Raceway Pub on October 14, 2020. Rowe said that her boyfriend [Ronald Reese] wanted to run a bar out of the K and R Raceway Pub building and she would do anything for him [Reese]. (R. 42: 108, 109). Rowe said that Reese put a Budweiser sign on the side of the building, Budweiser neon lights in the front windows, and placed the alcohol bottles behind the bar. (R 42: 99, 101).

#### **ARGUMENT**

1. The State presented sufficient evidence for the jury to find Rowe possessed "intoxicating liquor" for the purpose of sale

#### a. Standard of Review

Court may not reverse a conviction "unless the evidence, viewed most favorably to the state and the conviction, is so insufficient in probative value and force that it can be said as a matter of law that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d 493, 451 N.W.2d 752, 755 (1990). If any possibility exists that the jury could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the trial evidence to find guilt, this court may not overturn the verdict. *Id.* at 507.

Case 2022AP002122 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 7 of 16

This Court "must accept and follow the inference drawn by the trier of fact unless the evidence on which the inference is based is incredible as a matter of law." *Id.* at 757.

#### b. Applicable Legal Standards

"The standard for reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction is the same in either a direct or circumstantial evidence case."

Id. "Once the jury has been properly instructed on the principles it must apply to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, a court must assume on appeal that the jury has abided by those instructions.". Id at 758.

"Statutes cannot be construed in derogation of common sense." American

Indus. Leasing Co. v. Geiger, 345 N.W.2d 527, at 530, 118 Wis.2d 140

(Wis. App. 1984). "When the general or primary meaning of a word is once established by such common usage and general acceptation, we do not require evidence of its meaning by the testimony of a witness...." Briffitt v.

State, 58 Wis. 39, 16 N.W. 39, 40 (Wis. 1883).

c. Evidence provided at trial was sufficient as it created a possibility the jury could infer Rowe possessed intoxicating liquor

The jury received direct and circumstantial evidence that Rowe was behind the bar of K & R Raceway Pub and had bottles of liquor displayed (R 42: 72-101). The only question at issue is if the testimony regarding those

bottles, in the light most favorable to the State, was of sufficient probative value that the jury could possibly inferred the bottles contained "intoxicating liquor." (Appellant Br.: 11, 12).

While the definition of intoxicating liquor is specific, this is not a technically that requires special testimony because the ordinary terms reflect the separation between intoxicating liquor and beverages with nominal amount of trace alcohol. *See Briffitt*. No standard for testing or proof beyond the common sense of the fact finder is established by *Gebaj*, *Hoch*, or other citable precedent<sup>1</sup> nor invalidate *Briffitt*. It is reasonable for a jury to infer that when an adult refers to a group of labeled beverage bottles as "liquor" or "alcohol" it is presumed they intend to mean "intoxicating liquor" or "alcoholic beverage," which includes intoxicating liquors.<sup>2</sup>

i. Describing a bottle as "liquor" or "alcohol" creates a reasonable inference that the contents of the bottles were "intoxicating liquor"

"As long as laws for licensing the sale of intoxicating liquors have existed, brandy, whisky, gin, rum, and other alcoholic liquids have been held to be intoxicating liquors *per se*; and why? Simply because it is within the

6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Gebaj v. State, 184 Wis. 289, 199 N.W. 54 (1924); Hoch v. State, 199 Wis. 63, 225 N.W. 191 (1929)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Wis. Stat. § 125.02(1)

common knowledge and ordinary understanding that they are intoxicating liquors. By this rule of common knowledge courts take judicial notice that certain things are *verities*, without proof." *Briffitt v. State*, 58 Wis. 39, 16 N.W. 39, 40 (Wis. 1883).

"Intoxicating liquor" means all ardent, spirituous, distilled or vinous liquors, liquids or compounds, whether medicated, proprietary, patented or not, and by whatever name called, containing 0.5 percent or more of alcohol by volume, which are beverages, but does not include "fermented malt beverages". Wis. Stat. § 125.02(8). Judge Russell instructed the jury of this definition before they deliberated. (R 42: 124).

It is within the realm of ordinary expertise that 0.5% alcohol by volume (ABV) is a very small amount of alcohol. Beverages such as soft drinks, fruit juices, and certain other flavored beverages which are traditionally perceived by consumers to be "non-alcoholic" could actually contain traces of alcohol (less than 0.5 percent alcohol by volume) derived from the use of flavoring extracts or from natural fermentation. FDA [Food and Drug Administration] considers beverages containing such trace amounts of alcohol to be "non-alcoholic." USFDA CPG § 510.400 (Updated

11/29/2005).<sup>3</sup> Additionally, beverages with less than 0.5% alcohol are marketed, labeled, and referred to in the common vernacular used by jurors as "NA" or "non-alcoholic." Examples include Anheuser-Busch's O'Doul's<sup>4</sup>, Heineken's Buckler<sup>5</sup>, Weihenstephaner's Non-Alcoholic<sup>6</sup>, Joyus's Non-Alcoholic wines<sup>7</sup>, Boisson's Surley wines<sup>8</sup>, Seedlip Non-Alcoholic Spirits<sup>9</sup>; which contain trace amounts of alcohol but are accepted as non-alcoholic. When Rowe, whose previous experience as a bartender was already a matter of record, referred to the bottles in question as "alcohol" it was a clear assertion under common and technical language that they contained over 0.5% ABV and was an intoxicating liquor.

August 29, 1935, after the repeal of prohibition under the 21<sup>st</sup>

Amendment of the United States Constitution, the Federal Alcohol

Administration Act established labeling requirements for intoxicating liquors which include providing the consumer with the identity and alcohol content

 $<sup>^3</sup>$  https://www.fda.gov/regulatory-information/search-fda-guidance-documents/cpg-sec-510400-dealcoholized-wine-and-malt-beverages-labeling

<sup>4</sup> https://www.liquor.com/odouls-beer-review-5218710

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> https://beveragedist.com/buckler-non-alcoholic-beer/

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> https://www.weihenstephaner.com/our-beers/weihenstephaner-non-alcoholic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> https://drinkjoyus.com/products/joyus-non-alcoholic-cabernet-sauvignon; https://drinkjoyus.com/products/copy-of-joyus-non-alcoholic-quad-pack

<sup>8</sup> https://boisson.co/collections/surely

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> "This product may contain trace elements of alcohol (<0.5%ABV). when consumed without mixing or diluting w/ other non-alcoholic liquids e.g. Ginger ale. When diluted w/ Ginger ale at the recommended serve levels, the alcohol level is comparable to the level of alcohol found in orange juice or apple juice." https://www.seedlipdrinks.com/en-us/faqs/

of the liquor <sup>10</sup> (with an exception for wines that's have 14% or less ABV). Wis. Stat. §§ 125.68(9)(b) and Tax 8.52, and 27 U.S.C. 205 (e)(2). The labeling provision requiring the alcohol content of a liquor has been part of the requirement since Federal Alcohol Administration Act was enacted on August 29, 1935. (74<sup>th</sup> Congress Sess. I CHS 814 page 982). The labeling provision of the Federal Alcohol Administration Act is currently part of 27 U.S.C. 205 (e)(2) and incorporated into Wisconsin law through Wis. Stat. §§ 125.68(9)(b). and Tax 8.52.

Intoxicating liquors are sold across Wisconsin numerous locations including bars, liquor stores, gift shops, grocers, and gas stations. Under the Federal Alcohol Administration Act intoxicating liquors are labeled, clearly stating greater than 0.5% ABV. Substantial portion of the adult community therefore reasonably know that those ardent, spirituous, distilled or vinous liquors, liquids or compounds, and liquor by any other name, have a higher than 0.5% ABV.

Direct testimony regarding the intoxicating liquor was given by

Deputy Lange and Rowe. Deputy Lange testified that he saw labeled bottles
facing the bar that Lange knew to be liquor bottles behind the bar with

 $<sup>^{10}</sup>$  27 U.S.C. Subchapter 1 - §§ 201-212

Case 2022AP002122 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 12 of 16

Rowe in the K and R Pub on the night at issue. (R 42: 77, 84). No objection was raised by Rowe as to Lange's ability to identify liquor bottles. Lange testified he had three years of experience at the Lincoln County Sheriff's Office. (R 42). Rowe also testified these were bottles of "alcohol" behind the bar. (R 42: 101). Rowe testified and provided paperwork that indicated she had experience in the alcohol service industry. With the background information and the physical appearance of Lange and Rowe, the jury could reasonably infer that when they used the terms "liquor bottle" and "alcohol bottle" and they were talking about an "intoxicating liquor" without additional information.

# ii. Gebaj and Hoch do not preclude testimony alone as sufficient evidence of "intoxicating liquor"

Rowe's criticism is that a reasonable jury does not know what an intoxicating beverage is without testing and asserts that *Gebaj v. State*, 184 Wis. 289, 199 N.W. 54 (1924). and *Hoch v. State*, 199 Wis. 63, 225 N.W. 191 (1929) hold that State is required to sample, seize, or analyze the liquor to prove its alcohol content. Rowe's assertion is not true, neither case creates or contemplates such a standard.

Gebaj does not really concern the sufficiency of evidence. The contention before Supreme Court concerns chain of custody, whether bottles

Case 2022AP002122 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 13 of 16

of beer that were seized remained sealed between seizure and the time analysis. Court finds that the contention without a shadow of merit and affirms judgment with no discussion what-so-ever as to what constitutes sufficient evidence.

In *Hoch* the Court does not determine what evidence constitutes sufficiency. The question at issue in the relevant part of *Hoch* is if the liquor possessed without a permit was "privately manufactured distilled liquor," also known as moonshine. A Deputy testified that he knew the taste of "moon" and that what he drank was "intoxicating liquor." The question before that court was whether the Deputy's testimony regarding the taste of the liquor could establish both that it was an intoxicating liquor and the manner of its manufacture. That Court did not find that the deputies testimony was not sufficient. Rather the court found "if it were necessary to sustain the conviction upon this testimony, there would be some difficulty in construing it as a sufficient basis for finding that the liquor constituted privately manufactured distilled liquor." Id. The *Hoch* Court does not conclude the testimony alone was insufficient and while the Court may indicate the evidence is weak for proving a manufactured distilled liquor, "some difficulty" or even weak does not make the evidence insufficient under the "any possibility" standard. *Poellinger* at 507.

Case 2022AP002122 Brief of Respondent Filed 07-14-2023 Page 14 of 16

While additional evidence was presented in these cases, their Courts in these did not make a determination that anything greater than witness testimony as to the nature intoxicating liquor is necessary. Standards proposed by Rowe are not practical or necessary because the ABV in the definition of "intoxicating liquor" is consistent with the common understanding of the phrase. This is supported by older *Briffitt v. State*, 58 Wis. 39, 16 N.W. 39, that held "beer" obviously meant a malt and intoxicating beverage. *Briffitt* is illustrative as the definition of "fermented malt beverage" by statute has the same 0.5% ABV by statute as intoxicating liquor<sup>11</sup>; and "fermented malt beverages" and "intoxicating liquor" together constitute "alcoholic beverages."

It's worth noting that *Gebaj* (1924) and *Hoch* (1929) are prohibition era cases, with incident and finding dates occurring while the 18<sup>th</sup> Amendment to the United States Constitution was in effect, prior to its repeal by the 21<sup>st</sup> Amendment to the United States Constitution, (1919-1933), <sup>13</sup>before the Federal Alcohol Administration Act made alcohol content labeling mandatory.

<sup>11</sup> Wis. Stat. § 125.02(6)

<sup>12</sup> Wis. Stat. § 125.02(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> U.S. Const. amend. XVIII (repealed by U.S. Const. amend. XXI. (1933)

# iii. Circumstantial evidence supports the reasonable inference that the "liquor" or "alcohol" were an "intoxicating liquor"

Circumstantial evidence increases the reasonableness that the "liquor" or "alcohol" bottles contained an "intoxicating liquor." The bottles of liquor were on a shelf; behind Rowe, who was standing in the customary place of a bartender behind the bar; with invalid server's license displayed in a manner of bar; in a building that had a Budweiser sign and lights displayed and was labeled a "Pub;" and with Rowe's testimony that her boyfriend intended the pub to be a bar. (R 42: 72, 74, 99, 101-102, 108).

One-third of the jury panel indicated a history of involvement in the bartending industry. The jurors were instructed that they were not expected to lay aside their own observation and experiences in the affairs of life and to apply them to the evidence at hand, consistent with *De Keuster v. Green Bay & Co.*, 264 Wis. 476, 479, 59 N.W.2d 452 (1953). To remove the question from the jury as a matter of law and now allow them to apply their experience to infer what liquor/alcohol mean is contrary to *De Keuster*.

Further, the jurors can infer that the liquor/alcohol being referred to was an intoxicating liquor, not a malt liquor, because Deputy Lange and Rowe both made distinctions in their testimony between the bottles of

Case 2022AP002122 **Brief of Respondent** Filed 07-14-2023 Page 16 of 16

liquor/alcohol behind the bar and the beer that was in the beer cooler and

being consumed by the other occupants of the Pub. (R 42: 84, 97).

**CONCLUSION** 

Lange and Rowe's uncontroverted testimony that Rowe had bottles of

"liquor" and "alcohol" at her K and R Raceway Pub was of sufficient

probative value that the reasonable jury inferred Rowe possessed intoxicating

liquor which is given greater probative value and force by the circumstantial

evidence that the bottles were placed in customary way of bottles of

intoxicating liquor held for sale at premises licensed for the sale and service

of intoxicating beverages. Since the possibility exists that the jury could have

drawn the appropriate inference that the bottles contained greater than 0.5%

alcohol. Therefore, evidence provided at trial was sufficient as a matter of law

and the judgment must be affirmed.